FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/27/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/27/2023 11:40 AM

102676-5

No. 84646-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERESA ROGERSON, individually,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipal corporation,

Respondents,

and

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Julie A. Kays WSBA #30385 Friedman Rubin PLLP 1109 First Avenue, Suite 501 Seattle, WA 98101-2988 Gary W. Manca WSBA #42798 Philip A. Talmadge WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner Teresa Rogerson

A. INTRODUCTION

This case presents an important question left unresolved in Mancini v. City of Tacoma, 196 Wn.2d 864, 479 P.3d 656 (2021)—whether a police officer may be liable under the common law for negligence when conducting an investigation. In *Mancini*, this Court reinstated the jury's verdict on a different ground, leaving unaddressed several Court of Appeals cases denying recovery for negligence during government investigations. Id. at 878 n.7 (collecting cases). That line of "undisturbed appellate authority," Op. at 10, led Division I in this case to uphold the dismissal of Teresa Rogerson's negligence claims against the City of Seattle. Division I insisted that only this Court could chart a "new path." *Id.* at 20.

Rogerson had sued the City after suffering a brutal rape and then submitting to a physically invasive and emotionally traumatic examination to extract forensic evidence such as semen and skin cells. A police policy encouraged such examinations, and a detective promised Rogerson to test the DNA evidence to identify the rapist. But the police instead let her "rape kit" sit on a shelf for a decade, and Rogerson lived in terror. Rogerson's ordeal is not unique: untested rape kits and police skepticism of rape victims have plagued Washington and other states. Years later, Rogerson's rapist was identified and convicted, and she then claimed negligence against the City.

This Court should review Division I's decision. First, Division I's categorical rule against liability conflicts with this Court's precedents on the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity. Second, contrary to this Court's recent teachings on the public duty doctrine, Division I never considered whether the officers owed a common law duty to a rape victim individually in these circumstances. Third, this case concerns a matter of overriding state importance for this Court to resolve.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Rogerson brings this petition.

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Rogerson asks this Court to review the decision of the

Court of Appeals, Division I, filed on November 27, 2023 ("Op.") and reproduced in the appendix at 1-11. While unpublished, it is accessible at 2023 WL 8187594.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Do government agents and their employers have absolute immunity from liability for their negligence during investigations, or are there circumstances under which such liability may attach?
- 2. Do police officers owe a duty of care under Washington negligence law to a rape victim who undergoes a physically invasive sexual assault examination to recover forensic evidence?

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(1) A City Policy Directed Police Officers to Encourage Rape Victims to Submit to Invasive Physical Examinations

A stranger rape rarely can be prosecuted successfully without the victim undergoing a second physical invasion—a forensic sexual assault examination. CP 43, 486, 494, 555-56,

573-74, 590-93, 868. These examinations, which can take several hours, yield a "rape kit," the DNA evidence that can prove the rapist's identity.¹ The victim must strip naked and undergo scrutiny from head to toe, with swabs employed to gather the rapist's skin cells and semen from her body and inside her vagina and anus. CP 43, 486, 494, 555-56, 573-74, 590-93, 868. This invasive process re-traumatizes the victims. CP 868.

To encourage victims to consent, the Seattle Police Department ("SPD") adopted a policy for handling rape cases. CP 590-95. The policy instructed officers to persuade victims that these examinations have personal benefits to them in addition to their forensic value. CP 590-93. The policy implored SPD personnel to tell victims "not to destroy evidence by cleaning herself/himself." CP 590.

¹ See generally, https://www.rainn.org/articles/rape-kit.

(2) The Police Brought Teresa Rogerson to the Hospital for a Rape Kit Examination and Promised to Test the DNA Evidence but then Left It on a Shelf

In early 2007, when this policy was in force, SPD dispatched Officer Kurt Alstrin to respond to a 911 call from Rogerson reporting she had just been raped. CP 473-74, 519, 522, 538. Two strangers had abducted her. CP 453, 474. One had raped her in a vehicle and then again in a wooded area. CP 474, 438, 473, 519-20, 799. Rogerson told Alstrin that an identification card fell from the rapist's pocket, and she saw the name "John Lay" on it. CP 438, 460, 474, 507-08. Rogerson also described the rapist's appearance and clothing. CP 473-74. And Lay's DNA was already in the national CODIS DNA database. CP 438.

Alstrin complied with SPD policy, and he personally drove Rogerson in his patrol car to Harborview Medical Center for a forensic examination. CP 473, 478, 591-93, 867. At Harborview, Rogerson suffered through swabs being inserted into her vagina, anus, and other parts of her genitals; combing of

her pubic hair; plucking of her pubic hair; scraping of her skin; trace evidence collection; photographs of her vagina and body; providing her clothing for evidence; and her medical records being released to SPD. CP 512, 545-51, 575-84. Rogerson was there for four-and-a-half hours. CP 552-54. "It was like being raped all over again," she recalls. CP 486.

Despite the SPD policy's directive to give "priority" to aggravated rape cases like this one, the head of SPD's Special Assault Unit ("SAU") did not send out a detective to interview Rogerson that day, to locate the crime scene, or to otherwise gather evidence. CP 474, 590, 598-601. Rogerson did not hear from anyone at SPD until a few days later, when she spoke on the phone with SPD Detective Roger Ishimitsu. CP 604, 815, 993, 1000. During this conversation, Rogerson "begged and pleaded for him to process my rape kit," she recalls. CP 480, 483. "He promised me that my rape kit was being tested." CP 480.

But Ishimitsu never submitted her rape kit for testing. CP 604-05, 831. If he had acted as a reasonable detective would

have, he would have learned that Lay was sitting a half-block away in the King County Jail, would have reviewed Lay's clothing and personal effects for possible DNA, would have had Lay participate in a line up or a photo montage for Rogerson to identify him, and would have obtained a positive match with Lay's DNA profile in CODIS. CP 604-05, 831. Instead, Ishimitsu spent about an hour on "perfunctory" efforts before closing the case after a few weeks. *Id*.

(3) Rogerson Lived in Fear Until Her Rape Kit Was Finally Tested in 2018 and Her Rapist Was Convicted in 2020

Rogerson's rape kit collected dust on a shelf until 2016, when SPD finally submitted it for testing. CP 438, 984-85. In the meanwhile, Rogerson became "I was a different person," she explains. CP 870. "It was the hardest thing, there was not a day that went by that I wondered where he was." CP 870. The thought of her rapist finding her was so "terrifying," she says, that she felt too afraid to go outdoors. CP 870. She felt "sheer terror." CP 870.

In 2018, SPD received notice from the state crime lab that there was a match with Lay's DNA in the CODIS DNA database. CP 438, 984-85. SPD Detective Martinell was then assigned Rogerson's "cold" case. CP 438, 927-35. He located Rogerson quickly, and Rogerson was interviewed within days. CP 439, 927-28. The King County Prosecutor's Office filed charges against Lay soon after. CP 968-73. On October 6, 2020, a jury convicted Lay of rape in the second degree. CP 382-96, 421, 940; *State v. Lay*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 1031, 2022 WL 2230456 (2022).

(4) <u>Division I, Believing Itself Bound by Court of Appeals Precedent, Rejected Rogerson's Negligence Claim Against the City and Explained That Only This Court Could Reverse Course</u>

Soon after Lay's conviction, Rogerson sued. CP 1-26. She alleged that the State Department of Corrections negligently supervised Lay when he was on probation. CP 19-22, 50-53. She also alleged three negligence claims against the City. CP 53-56.

The trial court dismissed Rogerson's claims against the City on summary judgment, CP 1098-1100, and Division I

affirmed, Op. at 1-10. After citing several Court of Appeals cases on claims for negligence arising from government investigations (and failures to investigate), Division I held those cases compelled dismissal. Op. at 10. Division I saw a total bar against a category of claims, which it lumped together under the term "negligent investigation." Op. at 8-9. The court did not examine whether these claims call for an individualized determination, tailored to each case's circumstances. Op. at 8-10. Nor did it analyze the case under common law negligence principles. *Id*. Instead, Division I resurrected the categorical test it had fashioned in *Mancini*. Op. at 8-9. But, perhaps troubled that Rogerson had no relief, Division I pointed to this Court's ultimate authority to determine the common law. Op. at 10.

- F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
 - (1) The Decision Below Conflicts with This Court's Precedents

Division I's opinion contradicts this Court's interpretation of the legislative waiver of sovereign immunity. It also departs

which repeatedly stress that the public duty doctrine does not apply when a public offer undertaking a government function is liable for negligence if they have common law duty of reasonable care. This Court's cases on police liability underscore that police may assume such a duty when performing their official functions. Review is warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(a) The Court of Appeals' Sweeping Rule
Against "Negligent Investigation" Claims
Diverges from This Court's Broad
Interpretation of the Legislature's Waiver of
Sovereign Immunity

Division I's opinion creates a *de facto* immunity in conflict with the Legislature's waiver of immunity for the state and municipalities. Enacted in the 1960s and codified at RCW 4.92.090 (the state) and RCW 4.96.010 (municipalities), this waiver is "one of the broadest waivers of sovereign immunity in the country." *Savage v. State*, 127 Wn.2d 434, 444, 899 P.2d 1270 (1995); *accord Hanson v. Carmona*, 1 Wn.3d 362, 378, 525 P.3d 940 (2023) ("very broadly"); *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 869

("broad"). It operates as a consent to suit. *Kelso v. City of Tacoma*, 63 Wn.2d 913, 916-18, 390 P.2d 2 (1964). And it establishes the scope of government liability, making government answerable in tort just as if it "were a private person or corporation." RCW 4.92.090; RCW 4.96.010. Civil liability may attach no matter whether the state or local government acts in a "governmental or proprietary capacity." RCW 4.92.090; RCW 4.96.010. This waiver thus establishes "all-encompassing" liability. *Oberg v. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 114 Wn.2d 278, 281, 787 P.2d 918, 920 (1990).

But with Division I's opinion, a new judicial grant of immunity has functionally arisen from Division I's broad new rule. Municipalities are now basically immune from liability for their police officers' "negligence occurring during the authorized evidence gathering aspects of police work." Op. at 8 (quoting *Mancini*, No. 77531-6-I, slip op. at 9). For example, Division I recognized that police officers may be liable for negligent infliction of emotional distress. Op. at 9 n.4 (discussing

Garnett v. City of Bellevue, 59 Wn. App. 281, 796 P.2d 782 (1990)). But because Rogerson alleged injury based on an investigative aspect of police work—testing a rape kit—the court rejected her claim as "noncognizable in our state." *Id.* at 9.

This new immunity clashes square with this Court's many cases holding that, under the waiver of sovereign immunity, police officers may be liable for their negligence even when performing an official duty. *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 880 & n.8; Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma, 193 Wn.2d 537, 543, 442 P.3d 608 (2019); Washburn v. City of Fed. Way, 178 Wn.2d 732, 761-62, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013). No principled reason supports treating police's investigative duties any differently from their other official functions. Division I's immunity becomes even more tenable when viewed against Mancini. To be sure, this Court left the issue open there. But if police officers are not immune from their negligence when executing search warrants, which itself is an investigative undertaking, then it follows that they may be liable when performing an investigation.

It is for the Legislature, not the courts, to retreat from the waiver of sovereign immunity. But the Legislature has not done so for police investigations. Of course, the City has noted that RCW 5.70.040, the law passed in 2015 that requires law enforcement agencies to submit rape kits for testing, disclaims any private right of action. CP 118 (citing RCW 5.70.040(6) and .050(6)). But that statutory disclaimer serves a limited purpose to prevent an implied statutory cause of action under *Bennett v*. Hardy, 113 Wn.2d 912, 784 P.2d 507 (1990). It does not confer immunity against common law claims. When the Legislature wishes to protect municipalities and individual officers from liability, it knows how to do so, enacting special grants of immunity. See, e.g., RCW 4.24.595; RCW 26.44.056(2); RCW 69.50.506(c); Janaszak v. State, 173 Wn. App. 703, 726, 297 P.3d 723 (2013) (holding that an immunity statute, RCW 18.130.300, barred a dentist's negligent investigation claim for improper license suspension). But here, neither Division I nor the City ever pointed to statutory immunity for police investigations

generally or for testing of rape kits specifically. If the Legislature wants to foreclose common law liability in this context, it can say so, as it has for other settings. *See generally, Hanson*, 1 Wn.3d at 379 (discussing examples). But until then, the general waiver of sovereign immunity permits liability when police perform in this "governmental ... capacity." RCW 4.92.090; RCW 4.96.010.

In short, the Court of Appeals has been wrong to create a new form of immunity for government investigations. On this basis alone, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

(b) The Decision Below Conflicts with This Court's Many Recent Precedents on the Public Duty Doctrine

Division I's opinion also clashes with this Court's recent cases on the public duty doctrine, especially those on police negligence. The public duty doctrine "guides a court's analysis of whether a duty exists that can sustain a claim against the government in tort." *Ehrhart v. King Cnty.*, 195 Wn.2d 388, 398, 460 P.3d 612 (2020). When an injured person seeks relief based

on a governmental duty imposed by a statute or ordinance, liability generally does not attach. *See, e.g., Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'n Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 888-89, 288 P.3d 328 (2012) (Chambers, J., concurring). But the public duty doctrine is not a rule of non-liability: it "does not—cannot—provide immunity from liability." *Osborn v. Mason Cnty.*, 157 Wn.2d 18, 27, 134 P.3d 197 (2006). It is merely "a focusing tool." *Bishop v. Miche,* 137 Wn.2d 518, 530, 973 P.2d 465 (1999). It is an analytical rule of thumb holding that, if a plaintiff sues based on a violation of a duty owed to the general public, then no cognizable claim is available unless an exception applies. *Norg v. City of Seattle,* 200 Wn.2d 749, 758, 522 P.3d 580 (2023).

This Court has repeatedly rejected Division I's theory that a government defendant may never be liable when performing a public function. This Court clarified in *Norg*, as it has before, that the public duty doctrine is not implicated when a plaintiff claims damages under a common law duty owed to the individual plaintiff. *Norg*, 200 Wn.2d at 758; *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 885-

86; *Beltran-Serrano*, 193 Wn.2d at 549-50; *Munich*, 175 Wn.2d at 886-87 (Chambers, J., concurring)). But Division I, never mentioning this development in Washington law, refused to revisit whether there is a categorical bar on negligence claims arising from investigations, or instead whether the SPD officers owed a duty to Rogerson individually.

That was error. "Washington courts have long recognized the potential for tort liability based on the negligent performance of law enforcement activities." *Beltran-Serrano*, 193 Wn.2d at 543 (collecting cases). Here, Seattle police owed Rogerson a duty to use reasonable care to, at the very least, test her rape kit. This duty stems from the ordinary principles of tort law that apply to private actors and government entities alike.

First, all individuals owe a common law duty to use reasonable care to avoid creating or increasing the risk of harm to other people. *Beltran-Serrano*, 193 Wn.2d at 550; *Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 437-39, 295 P.3d 212 (2013); *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 281 & cmt. e. Just as this duty

applies to private actors, it extends also to police officers in their interactions with individuals when the police undertake a government function. *Beltran-Serrano*, 193 Wn.2d at 550. The same is true here: "the police in this case personally caused the harm of which [Rogerson] complains." *Mancini*, 196 Wn.2d at 885-86.

Second, based also on SPD's special relationship with Rogerson, they owed her a common law duty to exercise reasonable care to complete testing of the rape kit and notify Rogerson of the results. Washington courts have found a special relationship when the criteria in *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315 are met. A special relationship arises when "one party was, in some way, entrusted with the well-being of the other party," or the relationship was "custodial or supervisory." *Caulfield v. Kitsap Cnty.*, 108 Wn. App. 242, 255, 29 P.3d 738, 745 (2001) (collecting cases). A special relationship may exist even when there is no true "custodial" relationship. *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 174, 429 P.3d 484 (2018) ("[N]ot a single

decision identified physical custody as a necessary condition for recognizing a § 315(b) special relationship."). Special relationships may arise in many different settings. *See, e.g.*, *Nivens v. 7-11 Hoagy's Corner*, 133 Wn.2d 192, 943 P.2d 286 (1997) (business invitees); *Benjamin v. City of Seattle*, 74 Wn.2d 832, 447 P.2d 172 (1968) (common carrier–passenger); *Miller v. Staton*, 58 Wn.2d 879, 365 P.2d 333 (1961) (innkeeper–guest). In short, "entrustment for the protection of a vulnerable victim, not physical custody, is the foundation of a special protective relationship." *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 173.

Here, the officers formed a special relationship with Rogerson based on her status as a vulnerable victim who had entrusted her body to the police's forensic process. Their relationship came as close to formal legal custody as can be achieved. Again: Rogerson rode in a patrol car to the hospital; SPD policy encouraged stranger rape victims to undergo forensic examinations; and SPD took custody of Rogerson's rape kit. She consented to this invasive and retraumatizing physical

examination because she believed it would lead to accountability for the rapist. CP 462. Rogerson ended up in an especially vulnerable position in relation to SPD. She could do nothing else to ascertain the rapist's identity and protect herself from the emotional and physical trauma of him being on the loose. SPD had the only physical evidence, the DNA in the rape kit, that could establish his identity. Rogerson depended on police. Indeed, SPD policy recognized that stranger rape victims are generally vulnerable to mistreatment and trauma after the rape, as experts confirmed. CP 867-68. Based on Rogerson's vulnerability and her entrusting her body and rape kit, a special relationship arose. *See H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 173.

Third, the officers had a duty to use reasonable care to avoid causing or increasing Rogerson's emotional distress. *See Garnett*, 59 Wn. App. 281 (negligent infliction of emotional distress for officers' harsh and offensive language in responding to a call that plaintiffs were loitering). This duty also arises when a municipality forms a special relationship with a crime victim.

Chambers-Castanes v. King County, 100 Wn.2d 275, 287, 669 P.2d 451 (1983).

Finally, this case's unique circumstances also triggered a common law duty for the officers to use reasonable care to complete their investigation, not just to test the rape kit over which they had taken custody. As the Court realized in Washburn, if a police officer's conduct will create or increase the risk of harm to another at the hands of a third party, then the officer must use reasonable care to guard against that risk becoming realized. 178 Wn.2d at 757-58 (discussing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 302B). Here, the City officers took control of the rape kit then did nothing, increasing the risk of emotional and physical harm to Rogerson from her sexual predator being loose. She felt so much "terror," she says, that she did not leave her house. CP 870.

The entrustment of Rogerson as a vulnerable victim also supports recognizing that the City police had to use reasonable care to finish the entire investigation, not just test the DNA. She

was not an undifferentiated member of the general public. The City had taken her by patrol car to the hospital, encouraged her to consent to the examination, and then taken the rape kit. CP 438, 473, 478, 480, 483, 590-92, 595, 867, 984-85. Once a protective duty arose, the police had no reason to stop using reasonable care after testing the rape kit. This Court should recognize that that the officers also had a duty to use reasonable care until the investigation completed.

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