# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/25/2024 1:54 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

### No. 1026765 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### TERESA ROGERSON,

Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF SEATTLE, a municipal corporation,

Respondent,

and

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Defendant.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Susan MacMenamin WSBA No. 42742 Assistant City Attorney SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2050 Seattle, WA 98104

Telephone: (206) 684-8200

Amber L. Pearce WSBA No. 31626 FLOYD, PFLUEGER & RINGER, P.S.

3101 Western Avenue, Suite

400

Seattle, WA 98121

Telephone: (206) 441-4455

Attorneys for Respondent City of Seattle

### **

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

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

### A. Washington does not recognize a common law duty for law enforcement officers to investigate crime.

With two exceptions inapplicable here (arising in DSHS child abuse<sup>1</sup> and contractual employment investigations)<sup>2</sup>, "Washington common law does not recognize a claim for negligent investigation because of the potential chilling effect such claims would have on investigations." *Janaszak v. State*, 173 Wn. App. 703, 725, 297 P.3d 723 (2013) (citing *Ducote v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 167 Wn.2d 697, 702, 222 P.3d 785 (2009)).

This Court should deny review because there are no conflicts among the appellate divisions or with this Court. Second, a substantial change in Washington's 33-year history of not recognizing a negligent law enforcement investigation claim

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See M.W. v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 149 Wn.2d 589, 595, 601, 70 P.3d 954 (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Lambert v. Morehouse, 68 Wn. App. 500, 843 P.2d 1116 (1993).

would "impair vigorous prosecution and have a chilling effect on law enforcement" and interfere with law enforcement's "broad discretion to allocate limited resources among the competing demands." *Dever*, 63 Wn. App. at 45 and *Donaldson*, 65 Wn. at 671-72 (explaining the "obvious practical problems" in declining to create a cause of action for negligent investigation). The foregoing rationale and judicial recognition of the "obvious practical problems" are consistently applied throughout the United States.<sup>3</sup>

Washington courts have repeatedly declined to recognize a claim for negligent investigation against law enforcement officials. *See Laymon v. Dep't. of Nat. Res.*, 99 Wn. App. 518,

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., Alaska (Waskey v. Municipality of Anchorage, 909 P.2d 342 (Alaska 1996); Arizona (Landeros v. City of Tucson, 831 P.2d 850 (Ariz. App. Div. 2 1992)); California (Johnson v. City of Pacifica, 84 Cal. Rptr. 246, 249 (1970)); Florida (Wilson v. O'Neal, 118 So. 2d 101, 105 (Fla. App. 1960)); Idaho (Wimer v. State, 841 P.2d 453, 455 (Idaho Ct. App. 1992)); Iowa (Smith v. State, 324 N.W.2d 299, 302 (Iowa 1982)); New York (Boose v. Rochester, 421 N.Y.S.2d 740, 744 (N.Y. App. Div. 1979)); Pennsylvania (Agresta v. Gillespie, 631 A.2d 772 (1993)); and Wisconsin (Bromund v. Holt, 129 N.W.2d 149, 153-54 (1964)).

530, 994 P.2d 232 (2000); Fondren v. Klickitat Cnty., 79 Wn. App. 850, 862-63, 905 P.2d 928 (1995). See also Mancini v. City of Tacoma, 196 Wn.2d 864, 878 n.7, 479 P.3d 656 (2021) (collecting cases and stating "[t]o be sure, the Court of Appeals has repeatedly denied recovery for negligent police investigation.").

Given over 30 years of established precedent and public policy—and the fact that Rogerson alleges omissions or no-duty nonfeasance—discretionary review should be denied.

### B. Application of the public duty doctrine bars Rogerson's negligence claim.

In conducting a *de novo* review of the summary judgment dismissal, the Court of Appeals straightforwardly affirmed dismissal solely on well-established precedent that Washington does not recognize a cause of action for negligent investigation. *Rogerson v. City of Seattle*, No. 84646-9, slip op. at 7-9 (Ct. App. Nov. 27, 2023). Thus, it was unnecessary for Division One to address the application of the public duty doctrine, its exceptions, or any other theory advanced by the

City to support dismissal (including the statute of limitations, judicial estoppel, and proximate cause). Nevertheless, Rogerson contends that Division One's basic analysis purportedly creates a "conflict" with the public duty doctrine and its exceptions, and/or creates "de facto immunity" contrary to the Legislature's waiver of immunity. PR at 10, 14-18. These contentions are incorrect. There are no conflicts among the divisions or with this Court's decisions.

First, sovereign immunity denies *all liability*. *J.B. Dev*. *Co.*, *v. King Cnty*., 100 Wn.2d 299, 303, 669 P.2d 468 (1983) (overruled on other grounds by *Meany v. Dodd*, 111 Wn.2d 174, 179-80, 759 P.2d 455 (1988)). In contrast, the public duty doctrine uniquely "recognizes the existence of a tort, authorizes the filing of a claim against a [government entity] and also recognizes applicable liability subject to some limitations." *Id*.

"To establish a duty in tort against a governmental entity, a plaintiff must show that the duty breached was owed to an individual and was not merely a general obligation owed to the public." *Beltran-Serrano v. City of Tacoma*, 193 Wn.2d 537, 549, 442 P.3d 608 (2019). The public duty doctrine serves as a focusing tool to determine whether a defendant government owes "a duty to a 'nebulous public' or a particular individual." *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'ns Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 878, 288 P.3d 328 (2012) (quoting *Osborn v. Mason Cnty.*, 157 Wn.2d 18, 27, 134 P.3 197 (2006)).

In *Norg v. City of Seattle*, 200 Wn.2d 749, 756-57, 522 P.3d 580 (2023), this Court stated that the doctrine ensures that a government entity bears liability to the same extent as if it was a private person or corporation: "To be held liable in accordance with these statutes, a governmental entity must engage in tortious conduct that is "analogous, in some degree at least, to the chargeable misconduct and liability of a private person or corporation." *Id.* (quoting *Munich v. Skagit Emergency Commc'ns Ctr.*, 175 Wn.2d 871, 887, 288 P.3d 328 (2012) (Chambers, J., concurring) (quoting *Evangelical United* 

Brethren Church v. State, 67 Wn.2d 246, 253, 407 P.2d 440 (1965)).

Here, Rogerson acknowledges that the government is "answerable in tort just as if it were a private person or corporation." PR at 11. But she submits no evidence of an "analogous" private person or corporation that would be subject to liability for declining to further investigate a criminal allegation after a victim refuses to cooperate. That should end the analysis. The public duty doctrine clearly applies.

This Court stated that "[i]f the duty is based on a statute and owed to the public generally, then the public duty doctrine applies and we must determine whether there are any applicable exceptions." *Norg*, 200 Wn.2d at 759. In responding to Rogerson's report of assault and gathering SAK evidence, the City was undertaking a duty to all, acting under a generally applicable statute empowering Seattle to "provide for the punishment of all disorderly conduct [.]" *See* RCW 35.22.280(34) and (35) (providing specific powers to first class

city to enact and enforce criminal laws); Seattle City Charter, Article VI (listing the police chief's powers, duties, and responsibilities); *Chambers-Castanes v. King Cnty.*, 100 Wn.2d 275, 284, 669 P.2d 451 (1983) (describing statutory duty to provide police protection as a duty owed to the public at large, not individuals).

Under *Norg*'s analysis "[i]f the duty is based on a statute and owed to the public generally, then the public duty doctrine applies and we must determine whether there are any applicable exceptions." *Norg*, 200 Wn.2d at 759. Here, the public duty doctrine applies as a matter of law, but Division One affirmed the trial court's dismissal on alternative grounds. The appellate court's prerogative does not inherently create any decisional "conflict" in Washington as Rogerson erroneously contends.

# C. No "special relationship" exists as an exception to the public duty doctrine or otherwise.

Rogerson concedes that she must establish an exception to the public duty doctrine if her claim is to proceed. PR at 15. She contends that the "special relationship" exception applies.

*Id.* at 17. However, she confusingly conflates inapplicable custodial, supervisory, and entrustment theories (not raised in the trial court, *see* CP 364-37) to support a special relationship exception. PR at 17-18.

First, Rogerson did not raise the issue of a common law duty arising out of a protective, custodial, or entrustment relationships in briefing or oral argument before the trial court. She raised it for the first time in her opening brief. *See* Opening Br. at 39-41; *see also* PR 17-19. Because "the appellate court will consider only evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court," RAP 9.12, this Court should decline to consider these alleged duties in its determination of granting or denying review.

Rogerson urges this Court to grant review to recognize a special-relationship duty under RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 315, providing an exception to the general rule of non-liability for non-feasance, wherein the existence of a special relationship may give rise to a duty to protect a plaintiff from

harm caused by third person. *See* PR at 11; *see generally, Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 433, 295 P.3d 212 (2013). But there is no admissible evidence in the record that supports her contention that she was in a protective; custodial; or entrustment relationship with SPD or a third-party. The exception does not apply. *See Barlow v. State*, No. 101045-1, 2024 Wash. LEXIS 1, at \*11 (Sup. Ct. Jan. 4, 2024) (rejecting argument for special relationship protective duty arising under RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF TORTS § 315 in the context of a university and student, noting that such relationship requires "traits of dependence and control").

Second, the "special relationship" exception to the public duty doctrine does not apply. The exception is a "narrow one" and arises only if "(1) there is direct contact or privity between the public official and the injured plaintiff which sets the latter apart from the general public, and (2) there are express assurances given by a public official, which (3) gives rise to justifiable reliance on the part of the plaintiff." *Taylor v*.

Stevens Cnty., 111 Wn.2d 159, 166, 759 P.2d 447 (1988) (citations omitted). "For the government to be bound the plaintiffs must rely upon the assurance to their detriment." Babcock v. Mason Cnty. Fire Dist., 144 Wn.2d 774, 787, 30 P.3d 1261 (2001).

The City does not dispute that direct contact occurred, however, responding to a crime report does not provide a victim "special designation within the Defendant City's police department." CP 53-54. Members of the public at large, such as Rogerson, report crimes daily, but that does not set her apart from the general public, nor create an undefined "special designation." She cites no case supporting this proposition. This Court has held to the contrary. *See Chambers-Castanes*, 100 Wn.2d at 284 (describing statutory duty to provide police protection as a duty owed to the public at large, not individuals).

Third, Rogerson argues that she relied on a Detective's express assurances that the kit would be tested promptly. CP 54. Even if the detectives had expressly assured Rogerson that

the kit would be tested, she fails to establish that she detrimentally relied on the assurance. She testified that even without the "promise" of prompt testing, she would not have done anything differently. *See* CP 193-94 (Q: "So had that conversation not occurred, had he not said, we'll test your rape kit, what would you have done differently? A: I wouldn't have done anything differently.") As in *Cummins v. Lewis Cnty.*, 156 Wn.2d 844, 854-55, 133 P.3d 458 (2006), Rogerson did not rely on assurances to her detriment, thus as a matter of law the special relationship exception did not apply.

## D. SPD engaged in no affirmative conduct that triggered a duty to test the kit.

Rogerson alleges government liability for what SPD should have done, despite her failure to participate in the initial interview upon which a subsequent investigation is based. The allegations include failing to (1) submit the kit for DNA testing in 2007; (2) upload the DNA profile of Lay from the kit; (3) create a photo montage; (4) contact the suspect; and (5) contact the suspect's probation officer. CP 53. Rogerson also alleges

these investigative omissions caused her emotional distress. CP 56 (alleging negligent infliction of emotional distress arising out of alleged investigation failures). These are all no-duty acts of nonfeasance and are not actionable.

Conversely, the affirmative acts of "responding" to her report and "driving" did not increase the risk of harm to Rogerson. Such acts are not misfeasance, nor the cause of her injury. Accepting her theory for the sake of argument proves its flaw: if the affirmative act of driving her to the hospital increased the risk of harm, that would imply a duty to refrain from driving Rogerson to the hospital. Rogerson alleges that the injury-causing breach was the failure to test the SAK, not SPD's driving.

Similarly, the supposedly "affirmative act" of responding to a crime report is insufficient to give rise to a duty. If this was enough, then the officers who responded to the scene in *Robb* would have been deemed to have undertaken the requisite affirmative acts simply by responding to the scene. *See Robb*,

176 Wn.2d at 438 (officers who responded to scene where individuals were reported to have shotguns did not "create a new risk" when they stopped and interacted with suspect and then failed to pick up nearby shotgun shells). Rogerson is both conflating and misapplying the law.

### E. The City had no duty to submit a SAK for testing under statute or common law.

In 2007, the City had no duty to submit Rogerson's SAK for testing to the State Patrol crime laboratory. *See Ravenscroft v. Wash. Water Power Co.*, 87 Wn. App. 402, 415, 942 P.2d 991 (1997), *aff'd in part, rev'd in part*, 136 Wn.2d 911, 969 P.2d 75 (1998) (holding that for a failure to enforce claim, the plaintiff must show a statutory duty to take corrective action). In 2015, Washington's Legislature enacted RCW 5.70.040, requiring testing of all newly collected kits within 30 days, and later required testing of all stored, untested kits by October, 2019. RCW 5.70.050. The legislation is explicit and unambiguous that *no private right of action* arises. *See* RCW 5.70.040(6) and .050(6) ("Nothing in this section may be

construed to create a private right of action or claim on the part of any individual, entity, or agency against any law enforcement agency or any contractor of any law enforcement agency."). The City complied. Discretionary review should be denied.

# F. There is no duty to use reasonable care to avoid inflicting emotional distress.

Rogerson's contention that the City owed a duty to use reasonable care to avoid inflicting emotional distress (1) lacks legal and factual support; and (2) applies to no RAP 13.4(b) criteria. PR at 19. She analogizes her case to *Garnett v. City of Bellevue*, 59 Wn. App. 281, 796 P.2d 782 (1990), in which the Court of Appeals considered whether the public duty doctrine required reversal of a jury verdict for plaintiffs who demonstrated that a police officer verbally abused them.

Garnett was limited to whether the public duty doctrine applied. *Id.* at 287 ("We hold that the public duty doctrine is inapplicable to the facts of this case and, therefore, cannot be used to prevent liability in this situation.").

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Because this case does not conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals or with this Court's decisions, and presents no issue of substantial public interest, discretionary review should be denied.

This document contains 4,353 [must be less than 5,000] words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.